

Effect of Solid Particulate Matter Deposits on Vegetation – A Review

Christian Ulrichs¹ • Bettina Welke¹ • Tanja Mucha-Pelzer¹ • Arunava Goswami² • Inga Mewis^{1*}

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Institute for Horticultural Sciences, Department Urban Horticulture, Lentzeallee 55/57, 14195 Berlin, Germany
 ² Biological Sciences Division, Indian Statistical Institute, 203 B.T. Road, Calcutta, West Bengal, India

Corresponding author: * christian.ulrichs@agrar.hu-berlin.de

ABSTRACT

Very small, or fine, particles are released into the air created by emissions from many natural and man-made sources, including power plants, traffic, agriculture, open fires, and volcanoes. There are hundreds of types and sources for fine particle matter (PM), affecting plants on various ways. Plants suffer from stomatal closure leading to cell/tissue changes, leaves' necrosis, and chlorosis. The first physiological reaction after PM deposition to the vegetation takes place on the leaf with reduced net assimilation efficiency. Long-term depositions change the photochemistry leading to retarded leaf growth. Deposits for many years over plants' surfaces lead to large-scale reductions in the assimilate balance. Additionally, there are few reports on abrasive effects of PM, especially under high wind speed, supporting secondary effects such as an increase in diseases and pest incidence after the protective leaf cuticle were removed physically. Changes in soil chemistry due to PM deposition in the rhizosphere also lead to a change in soil nutritional values. Finally, PM can affect over longer periods natural plant communities due to selective advantage of some species over others.

Keywords: air pollution, fine dusts, fly ash, plant filter, PM₁₀, silica

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
DEFINITION OF FINE DUST	
SOURCES AND COMPOSITION OF FINE PARTICULATE MATTER	
PM DEPOSITS ON VEGETATION	
Reduction of photosynthesis through deposition	
Interference with stomatal functions	
Interaction with the cuticle	
PM EFFECT OVER THE SOIL	
Soil nutritional value	
Soil texture and density	
IMPACT OF PM ON PLANT COMMUNITIES	
SUMMARY	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Research on the impact of solid particulate matter dates back into the 18^{th} centurary. Sir Percival Pott published 1785 (in Goldberg 1985) an epidemiological study about cancer diseases in chimney sweepers. Since 30 years, human health relating studies are conducted looking into the impact of dust particles on human health (Repace and Lowrey 1980; Spengler et al. 1980). However, research on atmospheric pollution and its impact on plants has focused predominantly on phytotoxic elements such as NO₂, O₃, and SO₂ (Farmer 1991a). Recently, public awareness has been raised to CO₂ problems and fine particle matter (PM, fine dust), especially because of increasing traffic and anthropogenic activity in urban areas (Cwiklak et al. 2007). As a result, in the last few years the research on the effect of PM on animals, including human being and environment, in Germany and all over the world is increasing. In the meantime, the European Union (EU) raised threshold-safety levels for particulate matter in the air of urban areas of Europe. In January 2005 the EU guideline 1999/30/EG regulating the maximum allowed concentration of fine dust particles smaller or equal to $10 \ \mu m \ (PM_{10})$ became legally binding. It has been widely estimated that Germany and other EU countries might not be able to maintain acceptable limits in many places due to ever-increasing pollution and urban sprawl (Umweltbundesamt 2005).

Airborne particle range between 1 nm (0,001 μ m) and 100 μ m (Graedel and Crutzen 1994). Airborne fine PM can affect negatively human health (Lahl and Steven 2004). The effect of fine dust on human health ranges from temporary impairments to an increase in mortality due to acute respiratory illnesses and cardiac disorders (Hartog *et al.* 2003). Ultrafine particles might cause irritation and allergic response leading to inflammatory changes (Donaldsona *et al.* 1998). As the particles are smaller, they can penetrate into the respiratory system very easily. That particles with a size of more than 10 μ m can penetrate into the larynx has been demonstrated (Sarangapani and Wexler 2000). However, only a small fraction of them reaches the smaller bronchi and the alveoli in lung (Pekkanen *et al.* 1997). Particles below 10 μ m penetrate these organs/tissues very easily

Table 1 PM categories based on their.

Category	Property	
Very fine particle	Particle < 0.1 μ m (= 100 nm)	
Fine particle	Particle $< 2.5 \mu m$	
Raw particle	Particle 2.5–10 µm	
PM10	An air pollutant consisting of small particles with an	
	aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to 10 µm.	

leading to permanent disability in the system. Ultra fine particles, whose particle size is below 0.1 µm, could even penetrate alveoli and become released into the bloodstream (Borm and Kreyling 2004) leading its distribution throughout the body. Still, correlation studies with different sizes of the dust particles and their biological effect are far from being complete. This might be partly due to diverse and heterogeneous health effects showed by similar dust particles in many different biological model systems as well as by the heterogeneous composition of naturally occurring dusts.

While numerous studies are available in the literature on the effects of fine dusts on human health it must be noted that there are only few studies about their effects on vegetation. Most of these investigations are in urban ecology and related to the research on the air-purifying capacities of urban green (Shao et al. 2004). The extent of damage caused by fine dust depositions affecting plants' physiological processes were often not considered. This is surprising considering the fact that long-term adverse effects, including reduced diversity, due to heavy dust depositions on plants is not a new finding (Daily 1997).

DEFINITION OF FINE DUST

Finest dust particles present in the atmospheric aerosol are called "particulate matter" (PM). The term PM classifies a particular type of air pollution that consists of complex and varying mixtures of particles suspended in the air. PMs are present everywhere, but high concentrations and/or specific types of particles present in ecological niche pose serious threat to living organisms (Vincent and Clement 2000; See et al. 2006). In general, PM is a combination of fine solids such as dirt, soil dust, pollens, molds, ashes, and soot and refers to the aerosol form present in the atmosphere (Thönnessen 2007). Additionally, gaseous combustion by-products such as volatile organic compounds, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides are part of the PM repertoire (Rizzo and Scheff 2007). A classification method based on the particle size could be as follows (Table 1).

SOURCES AND COMPOSITION OF FINE PARTICULATE MATTER

PM pollutions usually arise from multi-various sources. They can derive from anthropogenic activity as well as from natural sources (Schelle-Kreis et al. 2007) (Table 2). They can be released into the environment as primary or secondary particles. Primary PM develop and are produced directly from the source. While secondary PM are reaction

products in the atmosphere. Examples of such reaction products are ammonium sulfates and nitrate of ammonia as well as aldehydes and ketones (Tong et al. 2006). These substances adhere to other atmospheric particles easily leading to the formation of nuclei of condensation (Gibson et al. 2007). Fine dusts are carried easily by wind. Many industrial processes, especially quarrying causes fine PM production in huge quantities around the world (Fennelly 1975). Other major sources of PMs are traffic and thermal power plants (Brook et al. 2007; Gilmour et al. 2007). Contribution of different sources towards total dust pollution varies from location to location. Even within traffic, the emissions from car vary a lot (Düring and Lohmeyer 2001). Langner (2007) used for his calculations of PM filter efficacy rates of urban greens a mean PM emission rate per car of 100 mg km⁻¹. It is not easy to transfer empirically based deposition factors to complex urban situations. Still, Litschke and Kuttler (2007) calculated based on a simple modell for a 100 m long street segment with a daily traffic volume of 40,000 cars a potential removal of 8% of the PM emitted by cars. In this study, a velocity of 0.1 cm s^{-1} and a maximum possible green cover were used for the calculation. The chemical composition of traffic PM emissions has been changed through the introduction of three-way catalytic converters and unleaded gasoline. Leaded gasoline in Germany can contain $13 \text{ mg} \text{ }^{-1}$ lead (Jentsch 1986). In 1991 leaded gasoline held 25% market share and in 1995 the share went down to 6%. Since 1997, only unleaded gasonile is sold. Lead emits in 0.01-0.1 µm aerosol particles. Those particles can agglumerat to 0.3-1 µm size particles (Alloway 1999). Diesel carbon PM derived from traffic is still a very import source for PM in urban areas (Ried et al. 1999). For copper diesel PM and PM debris from car break are the biggest sources (Heinrichs and Brumsack 1997)

Due to a heterogeneous composition of different naturally occurring dusts, it is often very difficult to examine the effects of PM on the vegetation in specific experimental settings. In the literature, profound and valid statements about physical effects of PMs are widely distributed, but rarely chemical effects of dusts are considered. Some silica PMs derived from rock in inland settings and from shells or algae in costal areas are relatively inert in nature (Mewis and Ulrichs 2001a, 2001b; Ulrichs et al. 2006b). Other PMs like limestone quarry dusts are highly alkaline in nature (Darley 1966; Everett 1980).

We have to distinguish between two types of dusts impact: 1) the sedimentation, which calls the deposit/setting off from particles under the influence of the force of gravity and 2) the compaction, a reduction of volume based on the pressure of above layers. Dust can impact plants directly by covering aboveground parts of the vegetation or indirectly over the soil and the root systems. Apart from the pure size of the dust particle the physical and chemical characteristics of the particles are also important for their effect on plants. Plants differ in their ability to collect PM from the air (Möller 2003; Wolf-Benning 2006) and in their reaction to PM depositions.

Table 2 Composition and size of particle matter depending from its source

	Source	Substance
Anthropogenic	• Power stations, house fire, agriculture, chemical industry, petrochemical chemistry, traffic	 Fly ash, sulfur oxides (SO₂, SO₃), nitrogen oxides (NO, NO₂), ammonia (NH₃), volatile non methyl hydrocarbons, soot particles, abrasion of brakes, exhaust gas of transport
Natural	• Volcano, ocean, forest and shrub fires	 Sea-salt aerosols, dust, pollen, spores, micro organisms, methane, nitrogen dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, nitrates
Fine particle (PM _{2.5})	 Driving automobiles 	 Toxic organic compounds
	 Burning plants (brush fires and forest fires or yard waste) Smelting (purifying) and processing metals 	Heavy metals
Coarse particles (PM ₁₀)	• Crushing and grinding rocks and soil then blown by wind • Agriculture	Smoke, dirt and dust from factories, farming, and roadsMold, spores, and pollen

PM DEPOSITS ON VEGETATION

PM vary widely in sizes (Ninomiya *et al.* 1971; Fennelly 1975) and travel therefore differently in the air. Everett (1980) found that for unpaved roads, there was a rapid decline in particle size in the first 8 m from the road. In a similar study, Tamm and Troedsson (1955) found that beyond 20 m from an unpaved road only fine silts are deposited. Dusts from streets are not necessarily black and might not affect light absorption and leaf temperature as much as other dusts (Sperber 1975).

Generally, coarse particles are filtered by plants at a much higher rate than fine particles (Langner 2007). The amount of PM deposited on plant surfaces varies significantly spatio-temporally. Many of the factors responsible for the PM deposition are similar to those governing deposition of other pollutants. Generally greater surface roughness increases deposition rate (Belot et al. 1976). This parameter is especially important at greater wind speeds (Chamberlain 1967). Chamberlain (1967) also describes, that wet surfaces can result in higher deposition rates. The plant reaction differs depending on size of the deposited particles and the percentage of relative humidity. It has been observed that chemical interactions of dusts with the vegetation surface are impaired by the presence of water. For example, fly ash to a great extent is not water soluble and thus the probability of chemical burn only very small. This may not apply to other types of dust. Pilot experiments on PMs which affect plants were conducted by Duggar and Cooley (1914) on commercial crops. They compared charcoal, calcium carbonate, and aluminum hydroxide dusts on Lycopersicon esculentum. All three dusts increased transpiration, but charcoal reduced growth parameters while the other dusts increased it. Sree Rangaswami et al. (1973) studied in southern India the distribution of plant species around a cement factory that emits PM. Of the 54 species that they found, only nine were able to grow close to the factory. All of those plant species possessed small leaves, resulting in a reduced dust load. Generally, unpaved roads produce higher dust levels than paved roads (Roberts et al. 1975). Everett (1980) undertook a detailed study of an unpaved road in Alaska. He found that in the summer about $10^{\circ} \text{g m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1}$ was deposited at the roadside and that there was a logarithmic decline in deposition away from the road, with deposition still occurring 1 km away.

Dusts affect plant physiology at both physically as well as at the chemical and biochemical level. The absolute level of dust deposition might be important for physical effects. Fine dust particles can clog stomatal openings (Oblisami *et al.* 1978; Hirano *et al.* 1995), reduce photosynthesis (Borka 1980), increases leaf temperature (Steinhubel and Halas 1967; Guggenheim *et al.* 1980), and increase transpiration (Eveling 1969).

Reduction of photosynthesis through deposition

The substantial effect of PM deposition on plant leaf surfaces probably lies thereby in a reduction of the photosynthetic product (Auclair 1977; Naidoo and Chirkoot 2004). Krajickova and Mejstrik (1984) confirm this assumption. The authors found that PM from a coal-fired power plant affected photosynthesis of *Calamagrostis epigeios* and *Hypericum perforatum* but the stomata were rarely blocked. They suggested that the dust might act directly on the guard cells, though the mechanisms for this effect remain uncertain until now. After PM deposition on the leaves, *Rhodo-dendron catawbiense* exhibited an increased absorption in the infrared spectrum and a reduced reflection and transmission of radiation (Eller and Brunner 1975).

Deposition of smaller particle sizes leads to stronger reduction of photosynthesis than with coarse particles (Hirano *et al.* 1990). This effect is presumably due to the closer lining of dust particles on leaf surface resulting in a greater shading effect of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR). In experiments, where dusts of different particle sizes were applied electrostatically to *Brassica* plant leaves, no difference in the photosynthetic efficiency of the plant was found. This may be due to uniform particle distribution and a very thin layer of PM deposition (Ulrichs, unpublished data).

Plant reactions due to dust deposition are species dependent. For example, the chlorophyll fluorescence of Ilex rotunda and Ficus microcarpa grown close by a ceramic plant are less affected than for Machilus chinensis. Least changes of the photosystems II have been observed with I. rotunda (Wen et al. 2004). The chlorophyll fluorescence data of the mangrove, Avicennia marina, indicated that leaves coated with dust exhibited significantly lower photosystem II (PS II) quantum yield, lower electron transport rate (ETR) through PSII, and reduced quantum efficiency of PSII (F-v/F-m) (Naidoo and Chirkoot 2004). Nanos and Ilias (2007) are reporting similar results for olive trees exposed to cement dusts. In their study, cement dust decreased leaf total chlorophyll content and chlorophyll a/ chlorophyll b ratio. As a result, photosynthetic rate and quantum yield decreased. Long-term effects include a change in the leave biochemistry and a possible increase in plant pathogen and phytophagous arthropods incidence (Taylor et al. 1986). Taylor et al. (1986) reported leaf rolling and intervenial necrosis in Phaseolus vulgaris after deposition of cement. Sperber (1974) already assumed that plants adapted to low light conditions are less affected by dust depositions than plants adapted to grow directly in the sun.

Interference with stomatal functions

PM deposition can cause blockage of the stomata on the upper surfaces of the vegetation under natural conditions, and to a smaller extent at the lower surfaces. According to Krajickova and Mejstrik (1984), the stomatal diameters of most plants usually range from 8-12 μ m. Therefore, PM particle size is an important criterion for a possible leave penetration. Particles with PM₁₀ and smaller sizes can theoretically interfere with stomatal functions. Clogging the leaf stomata lowers the rate of transpiration and carbon assimilation, which finally causes a significant reduction in the photosynthesis rate. Dusts affect less plants, which exhibit physical protection structures such as trichomes compared to plants without such physical barriers.

Coal dust significantly reduced carbon dioxide exchange of upper and lower leaf surfaces of the mangrove, *Avicennia marina* by 17-39%, whereby the reduction was generally greater on the lower leaf surface, which has a dense mat of trichomes and salt glands (Naidoo and Chirkoot 2004). Nano and Ilias (2007) describe a decrease of the stomatal conductance to H₂O and CO₂ in *Olea europaea* exposed to cement dusts, resulting in a reduced productivity of olive trees.

Hirano *et al.* (1995) found that dust decreased stomatal conductance of cucumber and kidney beans in the light, but increased it in the dark by plugging the stomata, when the stomata were open during dusting. When dust of smaller size particles was applied to the plants, the effect was greater. However, the effect was negligible by closed stomata during dusting.

Flückiger *et al.* (1979) found, that 1 mg cm⁻² of silica dust was necessary to cause a decrease in stomatal diffusive resistance in *Populus tremula*, but only 0.5 mg cm⁻² was necessary to cause an increase in leaf temperature. Metabolic functions in plants operate only in a certain optimal temperature range. If a leaf heats up above 34°C, photosynthetic enzymes begin to denature and the leaf cannot perform its normal function. For example, Jiao and Grodzinski (1996) describe an inhibition of photosynthetic export in *Salvia splendens* above 35°C in both photorespiratory conditions was inhibited. Sucrose and raffinose but not stachyose accumulated in the leaf at 40°C. Plants react in this situation with an increase in transpiration to lower leaf temperatures.

Interaction with the cuticle

Ulrichs *et al.* (2006a) and Majumder *et al.* (2007) used silica dusts applied to *Brassica* leaf surfaces as insecticides. The dusts had strong lipophilicity and weak hydrophobic characteristics. Thereby, the dust got physically absorbed on surface waxes of the leaves causing an irreversible damage resulting in a reduced photosynthetic rate.

Bacic *et al.* (1999) made comparisons between the surfaces of *Pinus halepensis* needles from a site with relatively clean air, and one near to a cement factory in Croatia. Induced changes in the appearance and quantity of surface wax were recorded only for the samples collected near to the cement factory. In particular, crystalline wax in suprastomatal cavities appeared to coalesce, and subsequently additional amorphous wax formed round the rim of the stoma.

However, this effect depends on physico-chemical properties of the PM and environmental conditions. Hofmann and Bomhard (1956) and Ulrichs *et al.* (2005) showed that application of fly ash on leaves did not interact with the leaves in open fields. In open field conditions, small size particles drift easily from the leaf surface via air movement and precipitation. Therefore, dusts impair directly neither leaf surfaces nor photosynthesis significantly.

PM EFFECT OVER THE SOIL

PM drift resulting from agricultural liming and fertilization can have an eutrophication effect on nearby soils. The beststudied PM depositions are for coal fly ash from power plants. Hofmann and Bomhard (1956) estimated a daily hard coal fly ash deposition of 1 g/m^2 . For decades, numerous researchers have looked into the possible use of coal fly ash in agriculture (Page et al. 1979; Adriano et al. 1980; Maiti et al. 1990). Hard coal fly ash (CFA) is a smell less, grey, fine-grained and powdery substance, which consists mainly of spherical, glassy particles. Main components of CFA are SiO₂, Al₂O₃ and Fe₂O₃. Both Logan and Harrison (1995) and Wong (1995) described CFA as rich in calcium and magnesium oxide and thus explaining the high pH value observed by others. CFA contains polychlorinate biphenyls (PCB), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and various metals in the mg per kg range. In various investigations, fly ash as substrate was used and data were interpreted from the viewpoint of plant nutrition (Elseewi et al. 1978; Hill and Lamp 1980; Engelke and Marschner 1991; Kalra et al. 1998). Generally, changes in soil chemistry after PM depositions may be most important for long-term effects on plants (Scheffer et al. 1961).

Soil nutritional value

Plants use inorganic minerals for nutrition. Many factors influence nutrient uptake for plants. Ions can be readily available to roots or could be "tied up" by other elements or the soil itself. Soil too high (alkaline) or too low (acidic) in pH, makes minerals unavailable to plants. The optimal soil pH ranges for most crop plants between 5.5 to 6.2 or slightly acidic. This creates the greatest average level for availability for all essential plant nutrients. Therefore, extreme fluctuations in pH can cause deficiency or toxicity of nutrients. Cawse *et al.* (1989) found that rainfall around a cement plant in south Wales was high in phosphorus and vanadium and had a pH in the alkaline range.

Oats showed germination delay in alkaline soils coupled with reduced yield (Hofmann and Bomhard 1956). Garden cress was relatively insensitive to pH changes (Grantzau 1997; Ulrichs *et al.* 2005). Engelke and Marschner (1991) demonstrated a phytotoxic effect of boron residues in fly ash applications. Leaves contained highest boron concentrations, whereby boron led to drying up of the edges.

Theis and Wirth (1977) found that major components of CFA PM were Al, Fe, and Si with smaller concentrations of Ca, K, Na, Ti, S, and numerous trace elements. Some of

those elements like Ca, Fe, Mg, and K are required for plant growth (Kachroo *et al.* 2006; Inam 2007). Some others like Be, Se, and Mo can be toxic. Generally, CFA is not an optimal source for phosphorus since it was found to be inferior to monocalcium phosphate (Martens 1971). However, Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} can increase plant growth, as shown for legumes (Adriano *et al.* 1980; Page *et al.* 1979).

Next to the nutritional value, PM can have negative effects on the soil nutritional value. As for example, alarming concentrations of lead were found in dust of densely populated urban areas and in water and land of various areas near the industrial waste disposals (Singh et al. 1997). Plants absorb lead and accumulation of this metal is reported for roots, stems, leaves, root nodules, seeds, etc. (Hevesey 1923). Furthermore, lead content of plant tissues increases with the increase of exogenous lead level. Lead affects plant growth and productivity, whereby the magnitude of the effect depends on the plant species. Photosynthesis has been found to be one of the most sensitive plant processes and the effect of the metal is multifacial. Lead also inhibits N fixation and NH₄ assimilation in the root nodules. It appears that the toxic effect of this metal is primarily at physiological level (Singh et al. 1997)

Engelke and Marschner (1991) as well as Warambhe et al. (1993) had evidences that high CFA depositions result in high soil pH values and phytotoxic boron contents in this areas that disturb plant growth. Only after sufficient precipitation, the phytotoxic characteristics of the substrates with very high CFA content decrease. Other researchers claimed that higher boron contents in CFA have soil-ameliorating characteristics (Wong and Su 1997). Cline et al. (2000) showed that yields of soybeans increased up to 35% by CFA applications on sandy and clay soils in south of Ontario. On the yield of corn, CFA had however no effects. Anderson et al. (1990) reported an increase of the health-favorable indolyl glucosinolates: Glucobrassicin (3-indolylmethyl glucosinolate) and neoglucobrassicin (1-methoxy-3-indolylmethyl glucosinolate) in yellow turnip upon CFA application.

Soil texture and density

Normally, PM deposition makes only a fraction of the topsoil volume. Therefore, a change of the physical structure of the soil is very unlikely. This is of course different if 1) PM are collected and artificially deposited or mixed in soil. For example, soil properties are influenced by CFA application (Grewal *et al.* 2001). 2) Large dust storms occur which carry high loads of PM. Such phenomena occur periodically in all arid and semiarid parts of the world (Péwé 1981). Here the physical and chemical properties of soil vary according to the original properties. Winchell and Miller (1918) collected samples of dust carried by a storm crossing the US Lake States into New England on March 9, 1918. The dust fall was 4.8 g m⁻² or 48 kg ha⁻¹. The authors estimated that between 1 and 10 million tons were deposited on an area of 480 000 m². Such airborne additions of dust are important to horizontal differentiation in many soils (Simonson 1995).

Several researchers described the role of increasing CFA contents in the soil with positive effects on the water holding capacity in sandy (Roberts 1966; Campbell *et al.* 1983) and coarse-grained (Chang *et al.* 1977) soils.

IMPACT OF PM ON PLANT COMMUNITIES

Some of the earliest references regarding to dust influences on plant community structures dates back to 1910. Parish (1910) was interested in the shrub and grassland vegetation in California near cement factories. He found a shift in the vegetation community close to some cement factories. Krippelova (1982) in Czeslowakia has reported extreme effects of PM depositions near a magnesite factory. Here the deposition rate was so high, that surface crusts were formed and the soil pH rose to 9.5, changing the plant communities towards halophiles rather than calcicoles.

For more than 100 years lichens have been recognized as bio-indicators of air pollution. Because lichen species exhibit varying tolerance levels to air pollution it is possible to correlate lichen diversity and air quality (Nimis and Purvis 2002). Lichens intolerant to air pollution, such as Usnea species, are rare in urban areas. On the other hand, tolerant lichens, such as Parmelia and Physcia species, are often in great abundance in urban areas. Road dust can kill lichens along a dirt road in Alaska (Walker and Everett 1987). Epiphytic lichens are most likely affected via changes in the bark (Farmer 1991b). Lotschert and Kohm (1977) reported bark pH and Ca2 content changes in the bark of trees after long-term dust exposure. In urban areas, dusted leaves of trees allowed a greater penetration of road salts with increasing water stress (Flückiger et al. 1982). Since water stress is one of the major urban stressors for trees such findings can help to select plant species and varieties in anthropogenically determined systems.

SUMMARY

Airborne particle matter affects plants on various aspects. Apart from the composition of the PM, kind of the deposition, place of the deposition, climate, plant surface quality, composition of the environment, and soil as well as the quantity of PM deposition are important. Damage ranges from simple reduction of the photosynthetic efficiency of the target plant to stomatal closure leading to cell/tissue changes, leaves' necrosis, chlorosis, etc. The first physiological reaction after PM deposition to the vegetation takes place on the leaf with reduced net assimilation efficiency. Such reactions are immediate and rise to significant level within minutes after PM contact with the leave surface. Long-term depositions change the photochemistry leading to branch thickness, retarded stem, and leaf growth. Deposits for many years over plant surface lead to large-scale reductions in the assimilate balance. Such effects are rampant in the proximity of day mining industry, thereby affecting the vitality of the vegetation nearby and finally productivity of the plants.

So far, there are only few investigations on the possible abrasive characteristics of PM (e.g. silicates) on the vegetation either at the green house or at the field level. This is mainly because for studying such effects friction energy calculations are essential at the micro level and are very difficult under natural conditions. In nature, especially after sand storm such effects can occur with wind turbulences resulting into mechanical damage of the plant surface with varied physiological consequences. Secondary effects such as an increase in diseases and pest incidences after physical removal of the protective leaf cuticle by PMs is not been studied in detail.

Effects of PM on natural plant communities might also be altered due to selective advantage of some species over others. Finally, changes in soil chemistry due to PM deposition in the rhizosphere lead to modification of the equilibrium between different species in a plant community. Till to date, only a limited number of studies were undertaken at the community level and warrants urgent attention.

It is evident that there are many knowledge gaps understanding the impact of PM on plants. Since plants are being increasingly utilized to filter PM from the air in dense populated areas, we can expect here further research.

REFERENCES

- Adriano DC, Page AL, Elseewi AA, Chang AC, Straughan I (1980) Utilization and disposal of fly ash and other coal residues in terrestrial ecosystems: A review. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **9**, 333-344
- Alloway BJ (1999) Herkunft von Schwermetallen in Böden. In: Alloway BJ (Ed) Schwermetalle in Böden. Analytik, Konzentration, Wechselwirkungen, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 540 pp
- Anderson JL, Lisk DJ, Stoewsand G (1990) Glucosinolates in rutabaga grown in soil capped over coal fly ash. *Journal of Food Science* **55**, 556-557

Auclair D (1977) Effects of dust on photosynthesis 2. Effects of particulate

matter on photosynthesis of scots pine and poplar. Annales des Sciences Forestieres 34, 47-57

- Bacic T, Lynch AH, Cutler D (1999) Reactions to cement factory dust contamination by *Pinus halepensis* needles. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 41, 155-166
- Belot Y, Baille A, Delmas J-L (1976) Modele numerique de dispersion des pollutants atmospheriques en presence de couverts vegetaux. Atmospheric Environment 10, 89-98
- Borka G (1980) The effect of cement dust pollution on growth and metabolism of *Helianthus annus. Environmental Pollution (Ser. A)* 22, 75-9
- Borm PJA, Kreyling W (2004) Toxicological hazards of inhaled nanoparticles - Potential implications for drug delivery. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nano*technology 4, 521-531
- Brook JR, Poirot RL, Dann TF, Lee PKH, Lillyman CD, Ip T (2007) Assessing sources of PM2.5 in cities influenced by regional transport. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Part A Current Issues* 70, 191-199
- Campbell DJ, Fox WE, Aitken RL, Bell LC (1983) Physical characteristics of sands amended with fly ash. Australian Journal of Soil Research 21, 147-154
- Cawse PA, Baker SJ, Page RA (1989) The influence of particulate matter on rainwater acidity and chemical composition. U.K. Atomic Energy Authority Report R 13478, HMSO, London
- Chamberlain AC (1967) Transport of Lycopodium spores and other small particles to rough surfaces. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Ser. A 296, 45-70
- Chang AC, Lund LJ, Page AL, Warnecke JE (1977) Physical properties of flyash amended soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 6, 267-270
- Cline JA, Bijl M, Torrenueva A (2000) Coal fly ash as a soil conditioner for field crops in southern Ontario. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29, 1982-1989
- Cwiklak K, Rogula W, Pyta H (2007) Ambient PM2.5 related PAHs in urban areas. Archives of Environmental Protection 33, 3-14
- Daily GC (1997) Introduction: what are ecosystem services? In: Daily GC (Ed) Nature's Services: Social Dependence on Natural Ecosystems, Island Press, Washington DC, pp 1-10
- Darley EF (1966) Studies on the effect of cement-kiln dust. Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association 16, 145-150
- Donaldsona K, Lia XY, MacNeea W (1998) Ultrafine (nanometre) particle mediated lung injury. *Journal of Aerosol Science* 29, 553-560
- Duggar BM, Cooley JS (1914) The effect of surface films and dusts on the rate of transpiration. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 1, 1-22
- Dühring I, Lohmeyer A (2001) Validierung von PM₁₀-Immissionsberechnungen im Nahbereich von Straßen und Quantifizierung der Feinstaubbildung von Strassen. – Projektbericht (Auftraggeber: Senatsverwaltung für Stadtentwicklung, Berlin & Sächisches Landesamt für Umwelt und Geologie, Dresden). Radebeul, 80 pp
- Eller BM, Brunner U (1975) Der Einfluss von Straßenstaub auf die Strahlungsabsorption durch Blätter. Archiv für Meteorologie, Geophysik und Bioklimatologie, Serie B 23, 137-146
- Elseewi AA, Bingham FT, Page AL (1978) Availability of sulphur in fly ash to plants. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 7, 69-73
- Engelke G, Marschner H (1991) Möglichkeiten des Einsatzes von Kraftwerksreststoffen als Bodensubstrat im Landschaftsbau aus Sicht der Pflanzenernährung. Universität Hohenheim. V12 in: VGB (Vereinigung der Großkraftwerksbetreiber e. V) (Hrsg.): Tagung: Verwertung von Reststoffen aus Kohlekraftwerken zur Bodenverbesserung und Pflanzenernährung. Vorträge der VGB-Sondertagung am 8. Oktober 1991, Essen
- Eveling DW (1969) Effects of spraying plants with suspensions of inert dusts. Annals of Applied Biology 64, 139-151
- Everett KR (1980) Distribution and properties of road dust along the northern portion of the haul road. In: Brown J, Berg R (Eds) *Environmental Engineering and Ecological Baseline Investigations along the Yukon River-Purdhoe Bay Haul Road*, US Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, CRREL Report 80-19, pp 101-128
- Farmer AM (1991a) The effects of dust on vegetation and its consequences for nature conservation in Great Britain. CSD Note 57, Nature Conservancy Council, Peterborough
- Farmer AM (1991b) The effects of dust on vegetation a review. Environmental Pollution 79, 63-75
- Fennelly PF (1975) Primary and secondary particulates as pollutants. *Journal* of the Air Pollution Control Association 25, 697-704
- Flückiger W, Braun S, Flückiger-Keller H (1982) Effect of the interaction between road salt and road dust upon water relations of young trees. In: Bornkamp R, Lee JA, Seaward MRD (Eds) Urban Ecology, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 331-332
- Flückinger W, Oertli JJ, Flückiger H (1979) Relationship between stomatal diffusive resistance and various applied particle sizes on leaf surface. Zeit-schrift für Pflanzenphysiologie 91, 173-175
- Gibson ER, Gierlus KM, Hudson PK, Grassian VH (2007) Generation of internally mixed insoluble and soluble aerosol particles to investigate the impact of atmospheric aging and heterogeneous processing on the CCN activity of mineral dust aerosol. *Aerosol Science and Technology* 41, 914-924
- Gilmour MI, McGee J, Duvall RM, Dailey L, Daniels M, Boykin E, Cho SH, Doerfler D, Gordon T, Devlin RB (2007) Comparative toxicity of size-frac-

tionated airborne particulate matter obtained from different cities in the United States. *Inhalation Toxicology* **19**, 7-16

- Goldberg ED (1985) Black Carbon in the Environment, Wiley, New York, 198 pp
- **Graedel TE, Crutzen PJ** (1994) Chemie der Atmosphäre: Bedeutung für Klima und Umwelt. Heidelberg, Berlin, Oxford 511 pp
- Grantzau E (1997) Geeignete Keimpflanzen zur Prüfung der Pflanzenverträglichkeit von Komposten, Substraten und Böden. Erich Schmidt, Berlin, 43 pp
- Grewal KS, Yadav PS, Mehta SC, Ostwal MC (2001) Direct and residual effect of flyash application to soil on crop yield and soil properties. *Crop Research* 21, 60-65
- Guggenheim R, Fluckiger W, Fluckiger-Keller H, Oertli JJ (1980) Pollution of leaf surfaces in the vicinity of a motorway. *Berichte Umweltbundesamt* 79, 462-468
- Hartog JJ, Hoek G, Peters A, Timonen KL, Ibald-Mulli A, Brunekreef B, Heinrich J, Tiittanen P, van Wijnen JH, Kreyling W, Kulmala M, Pekkanen J (2003) Effects of fine and ultrafine particles on cardiorespiratory symptoms in elderly subjects with coronary heart disease. *American Journal* of Epidemiolgy 157, 613-623
- Heinrichs H, Brumsack HJ (1997) Anreicherung von umweltrelevanten Metallen in atmosphärisch transportierten Schwebstäuben aus Ballungszentren. In: Matschulat J, Tobschall HJ, Voigt HJ (Eds) Geochemie und Umwelt. Relevante Prozesse in Atmo-, Pedo- und Hydrosphäre, Springer, Berlin, pp 25-36
- Hevesy G (1923) The absorption and translocation of lead by plants. *Biochemical Journal* **17 (4-5)**, 439-445
- Hill MF, Lamp CA (1980) Use of pulverized fuel ash from Victorian brown coal as a source of nutrients for pasture species. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* 20, 377-384
- Hirano T, Kiyota M, Aiga I (1995) Physical effects of dust on leaf physiology of cucumber and kidney bean plants. *Environmental Pollution* 89, 255-261
- Hirano T, Kiyota M, Kitaya Y, Aiga I (1990) The physical effects of dust on photosynthetic rate of plant leaves. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* 46, 1-7
- Hofmann E, von Bomhard H-G (1956) Vegetationsversuche mit verschiedenen Gaben von Steinkohlenflugasche auf einem Boden des Ruhrgebiets. In: Tiegs E (Ed) Steinkohlenflugasche – Einfluss auf Boden, Pflanzen und Milchkühe, Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart, pp 12-16
- Inam A (2007) Use of flyash on turnip (Brassica rapa L.) cultivation. Pollution Research 26, 39-42
- Jentsch C (1986) Unverbleite Ottokraftstoffe. Chemie in unserer Zeit 20, 105-110
- Jiao J, Grodzinski B (1996) The effect of leaf temperature and photorespiratory conditions on export of sugars during steady-state photosynthesis in Salvia splendens. Plant Physiology 111, 169-178
- Kachoo D, Dixit Ak, Bali AS (2006) Influence of crop residue, flyash and varying starter dosages on growth, yield and soil characteristics in rice (*Ory*zae sativa) – wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cropping system under irrigated conditions of Jammu region. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Science* 76, 3-6
- Kalra N, Jain MC, Joshi HC, Choudhary R, Harit RC, Vatsa BK, Sharma SK, Kumar SK (1998) Fly ash as soil conditioner and fertilizer. *Bioresource Technology* 64, 163-167
- Krajickova A, Mejstrik V (1984) The effect of fly-ask particles on the plugging of stomata. *Environmental Pollution* 36, 83-93
- Krippelova T (1982) The influence of emissions from a magnesium factory on ruderal communities. In: Bornkamp R, Lee JA, Seaward MRD (Eds) Urban Ecology, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 334-335
- Lahl U, Steven W (2004) Reduction of particle matter in ambient air a major political task. Part 1: Air pollution by particles and health-related effects. *Gefahrstoffe – Reinhaltung der Luft* 64 (7/8), 325-331
- Langner M (2007) Staubumsatz in verkehrsexponierten Baumkronen und Partikelverteilung in städtischen Grünflächen. Berliner Geographische Arbeiten 109, 1-12
- Litschke T, Kuttler W (2007) Die Filterung von Partikeln durch Vegetation ein Literaturüberblick. In: Emeis (Ed) SMETTOOLS VI – Fachtagung des Fachausschusses Umweltmeterologie der Deutschen Meterologischen Gesellschaft, pp 5-7
- Logan TJ, Harrison BJ (1995) Physical characteristics of alkaline stabilized sewage sludge (N-Viro soil) and their effects on soil physical properties. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 4, 153-164
- Lotschert W, Kohm H-J (1977) Characteristics of tree bark as an indicator in high emissions areas. *Oecologia* 27, 47-64
- Maiti SS, Mukhopadhyay M, Gupta SK, Banerjee SK (1990) Evaluation of fly ash as a useful material in agriculture. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science* 38, 342-344
- Majumder DD, Banerjee R, Ulrichs Ch, Mewis I, Goswami A (2007) Nanomaterials: Science of bottom-up and top-down. *IETE Technical Review on "Nanotechnology education a paradigm shift"* 24, 9-25
- Martens DC (1971) Availability of ploant nutrients in flyash. Compost Science 12, 15-19
- Mewis I, Ulrichs Ch (2001a) Action of amorphous diatomaceous earth against different stages of the stored product pests *Tribolium confusum*, *Tenebrio molitor*, *Sitophilus granaries*, and *Plodia interpunctella*. *Journal of Stored Products Research* **37**, 153-164

- Mewis I, Ulrichs Ch (2001b) Effects of diatomaceous earth on water content of Sitophilus granarius (L.) (Col.: Curculionidae) and its possible use in stored product protection. Journal of Applied Entomology 125, 351-360
- Möller D (2003) Luft Chemie, Physik, Biologie, Reinhaltung, Recht. Gruyter, Berlin, 750 pp
- Naidoo G, Chirkoot D (2004) The effects of coal dust on photosynthetic performance of the mangrove, *Avicennia marina* in Richards Bay, South Africa. *Environmental Pollution* 127, 359-366
- Nanos GD, Ilias IF (2007) Effects of inert dust on olive (Olea europaea L.) leaf physiological parameters. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 14, 212-214
- Nimis PL, Purvis OW (2002) Monitoring lichens as indicators of pollution. In: Nimis PL, Scheidegger C, Wolseley PA (Eds) *Monitoring with Lichens – Monitoring Lichens*, Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop on Lichen Monitoring, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Wales, United Kingdom, pp 7-10
- Ninomiya JS, Bergman W, Simpson BH (1971) Automotive particulate emissions. In: Englund HM, Beery WT (Ed) Proceedings of the Second International Clean Air Congress, Academic Press, New York, pp 663-671
- **Oblisami G, Pathmanabhan G, Padmanabhan C** (1978) Effect of particulate pollutants from cement-kilns on cotton plants. *Indian Journal Air Pollution Control* **1**, 91-94
- Page Al, Elseewi AA, Straughan IR (1979) Physical and chemical properties from flyash from coal-fired power-plants with special reference to environmental impacts. *Residue Reviews* 71, 83-120
- Parish SB (1910) The effect of cement dust on citrus trees. *Plant World* 13, 288-291
- Pekkanen J, Timonen KL, Ruuskanen L, Reponen A, Mirme A (1997) Effects of ultrafine and fine particles in urban air on peak expiratory flow among children with asthmatic symptoms. *Environmental Research* 74, 24-33
- Péwé TL (1981) Desert dust: An overview. In: Péwé TL (Ed) Desert Dust: Origin, Characteristics, and Effect on Man. Geological Society of America, Special Paper 186, 1-10
- Repace JL, Lowrey AH (1980) Indoor air pollution, tobacco smoke, and public health. *Science* 208, 464-472
- Ried T, Klein H, Lox E, Kreutzer T (1999) Diesel-Partikel-Emissionen von PKW – Neue Einblicke in strukturelle Veränderungen im Verlauf der Abgasnachbehandlung unter Verwendung von Dieseloxidationskatalysatoren. Tagung Abgasnachbehandlung von Fahrzeugdieselmotoren, Haus der Technik, Berlin, total pp
- Rizzo MJ, Scheff PA (2007) Fine particulate source apportionment using data from the USEPA speciation trends network in Chicago, Illinois: Comparison of two source apportionment models. *Atmospheric Environment* 41, 6276-6288
- Roberts JW, Watters HA, Mangold CA, Rossano AT (1975) Cost and benefits of road dust control in Seattle's industrial valley. *Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association* 25, 948-952
- **Roberts TJ** (1966) The effect of land type and fine particle amendments on the emergence and growth of subterranean clover (*Trifolium subterraneum* L.) with particular reference to water relations. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **17**, 657-672
- Sarangapani R, Wexler AS (2000) The role of dispersion in particle deposition in human airways. *Toxicological Sciences* 54, 229-236
- Scheffer F, Prezmeck E, Wilms W (1961) Untersuchungen über den Einfluss von Zementofen-Flugstaub auf Boden und Pflanzen. Staub 21, 251-254
- Schelle-Kreis J, Sklorz M, Herrmann H, Zimmermann R (2007) Sources, occurrences, compositions - Atmospheric aerosols. *Chemie in Unserer Zeit* 41, 220-230
- See SW, Karthikeyana S, Balasubramanian R (2006) Health risk assessment of occupational exposure to particulate-phase polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons associated with Chinese, Malay and Indian cooking. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 8, 369-376
- Shao T, Zhou Z, Wang P, Tang W, Liu X, Hu X (2004) Relationship between urban green-land landscape patterns and air pollution in the central district of Yichang city. *Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao* 15, 691-696
- Simonson RW (1995) Airborne dust and its significance to soils. Geoderma 65, 1-43
- Singh RP, Tripathi RD, Sinha SK, Maheshwari R, Srivastava HS (1997) Response of higher plants to lead contaminated environment. *Chemosphere* 34, 2467-2493
- Spengler JD, Dockery DW, Reed MP, Tosteson T, Quinlan P (1980) Personal exposure to respirable particles. Presented at 73rd annual meeting of the Air Pollution Control Association, June, Montreal, PQ, Canada, Pittsburgh, PA: Air Pollution Control Association; Paper No. 80-61.5b
- Sperber A (1975) Auswirkungen von Staub auf Photosynthese und Stoffproduktion verschiedener Pflanzen. Inaugurat-Dissertation. University Bonn, 108 pp
- Sree Rangasami SR, Jambulingam R (1973) Cement dust pollution on maize crop. Madras Agricultural Journal 60, 1310-1313
- Steinhubel G, Halas L (1967) Poruchy v tvorbe susiny pri zvysenych teplotach vyvolanych v listoch drevin prasnou imisiou. *Lesnicky Casopis* 13, 365-383
- Tamm CO, Troedsson T (1955) An example of the amounts of plant nutrients supplied to the ground in road dust. *Oikos* 6, 61-70

- Taylor HJ, Ashmore MR, Bell JNB (1986) Air Pollution Injury to Pollution, Imperial College for Environmental Technology, London, total pp
- Theis Tl, Wirth JL (1977) Sorptive behaviour of trace metals on flyash in aqueous systems. *Environmental Science and Technology* 11, 1096-1100
- Thönnessen M (2007) Staubfilterung durch Gehölzblätter. Beispiele aus Düsseldorf, Essen und Köln. Berliner Geographische Arbeiten 109, 13-26
- Tong CH, Blanco M, Goddard WA, Seinfeld JH (2006) Secondary organic aerosol formation by heterogeneous reactions of aldehydes and ketones: A quantum mechanical study. *Environmental Science and Technology* 40, 2333-2338
- Ulrichs Ch (2007) Wirkung von Feinstäuben auf Pflanzen Phytotoxizität von Flugasche und Silikatstäuben. In: Endlicher W, Gorbachevskaya O, Kappis C, Langner M (Eds) Berliner Geographische Arbeiten. Tagungsband zum Workshop über den wissenschaftlichen Erkenntnisstand über das Feinstaubfilterungspotential (qualitativ und quantitativ) von Pflanzen am 1. Juni 2007 in Berlin/Adlershof **109**, 47-59
- Ulrichs Ch, Dolgowski D, Mucha T, Reichmuth Ch, Mewis I (2005) Insektizide und phytotoxische Wirkung von Steinkohlenflugasche. *Gesunde Pflan*zen 57, 110-116
- Ulrichs Ch, Krause F, Rocksch T, Goswami A, Mewis I (2006) Electrostatic application of inert silica dust based insecticides to plant surfaces. *Communications in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences, Ghent University* 71 (2a), 171-178
- Umweltbundesamt (2005) Hintergrundpapier zum Thema Staub/Feinstaub (PM). Available online: http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/uba-info-presse/

hintergrund/feinstaub.pdf

- Vincent JH, Clement CF (2000) Ultrafine particles in workplace atmospheres. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series a-Mathematical. *Physical and Engineering Sciences* 358, 2673-2682
- Walker DA, Everett KR (1987) Immissionsökologische Untersuchungen über den epiphytischen Flechtenbewuchs in der Umgebung des Magnesitwerkes in Hochfilzen (Tirol/Österreich). Centralblatt für das gesammte Forstwesen 105, 35-45
- Warambhe PE, Kene DR, Thakre KK, Darange OG, Bhoyar VS (1993) Evaluation of physicochemical properties of flyash of thermal power station, Koradi (Nagpur) for its likely use in agriculture. *Journal of Soils and Crops* 3, 75-77
- Wen D, Kuang Y, Zhou G (2004) Sensitivity analyses of woody species exposed to air pollution based on ecophysiological measurements. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 11, 165–170
- Winchell AN, Miller ER (1918) The dustfall of March 9, 1918. American Journal of Science 274, 599-609
- Wolf-Benning U (2006) Kleinräumige und zeitliche Variabilität von Feinstaub und Grobstaub sowie Stickstoffdioxid in Berlin. Berliner Geographische Arbeiten 105, 130
- Wong JWC (1995) The production of an artificial soil mix from coal fly ash and sewage sludge. *Environmental Technology* 16, 741-751
- Wong JWC, Su DC (1997) Reutilization of coal fly-ash and sewage sludge as an artificial soil-mix: effects of preincubation on soil physico-chemical properties. *Bioresource Technology* 59, 97-102